# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

GERALD PETION,	)	
	)	
Petitioner/Appellant,	)	
	)	
VS.	)	CASE No
	)	
	)	DCA Case No. 4D06-3888
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)	
	)	
Respondent/Appellee.	)	

# PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender

ALAN T. LIPSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 0151810 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street/6th Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600, appeals@pd15.state.fl.us

Attorney for Petitioner Gerald Petion

# **

## **INTRODUCTION**

Pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.120(d) and 9.210(a) and (b), Petitioner-Appellant, GERALD PETION, files this Brief on Jurisdiction. Petitioner will be referred to throughout this brief as defendant or petitioner and the State of Florida will be referred to as the respondent or the state. All emphasis has been added unless otherwise indicated. The following symbols will be used:

"R" - Pleadings filed as of record

"T" - Transcript of Testimony

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Defendant was charged by information with Trafficking in Cocaine (Count I), Possession of Cannabis with Intent to Sell (Count II), Giving a False Identification to a Police Officer (Count III) and Possession of Drug Paraphernalia (Count IV). (R 3-4) Defendant waived trial by jury. (T 3-6, 9-12, R 5) Non-jury trial commenced on September 6, 2006. (T 1-95)

BSO Deputies Conway and Sergeant Morse effected a traffic stop of the vehicle which defendant was driving, but did not own. There were three other black male passengers in the vehicle, one in the front passenger seat and two in the back. (T 31, 48, 49) Deputy Conway requested to see defendant's driver's license, registration, etc. (T 31) Defendant produced a driver's license; however the photograph on the license was not the defendant's. (T 32, 52, 66) The deputy then asked the defendant to give him the date of birth and address on the license, but defendant was unable to do so. (T 32, 52-53, 67) A check on the driver's license reflected that it did not match the defendant. (T 33) Thereupon, Deputy Conway had the defendant step out of the vehicle and placed him under arrest for giving a false identification to a law enforcement officer. (T 33, 54, 67) He handcuffed the defendant behind his back and then did a pat down search. (T 34, 54-55) The deputy found in the right front pocket of defendant's pants suspect crack cocaine in an orange M&M mini container and recovered from his left front pocket 26 bags of suspect powder cocaine. (T 35, 68, 69) The crack and powder cocaine field tested positive for cocaine. (T 35) BSO Sergeant Morse, a 13 year veteran, who has had special narcotics training and made many narcotics arrests, testified that the container and baggies are indicative of, or consistent with, street level narcotics transactions. (T 69-70)

After the defendant was searched, the passengers were ordered to exit the vehicle and produce identification. (T 79) A search of the vehicle revealed that underneath a jacket located on the driver's seat were 12 bags of suspect marijuana, which field tested positive. In addition, clear plastic bags were discovered in the front console. (T 36-37, 38, 43, 57, 70) Sergeant Morse testified the packaging was also consistent with the sale and delivery of narcotics. (T 71). \$183 was also found in the defendant's possession. (T 39, 71)

The car was not registered to the defendant or any of the other occupants. (T 57) No one claimed ownership of the jacket of which there was no indicia that it belonged to defendant. (T 58) Nobody claimed ownership of the marijuana or any of the other narcotics. (T 40,58, 71) The lid of the center console was closed at the time the deputy opened it and discovered the plastic bags. (T 58-59) Also found in a glass cup in the center console of the vehicle were 30-50 pieces of paper with the

initials "GP" and a telephone number written on them. (T 90-91, 93-94) Over objection of defense counsel, Sergeant Morse testified that it is common for street level narcotics dealers to hand out contact references for potential buyers to contact them. (T 91)The cocaine and marijuana tested positive. (T 16)

At the conclusion of the non jury trial, the trial court found defendant guilty of the lesser included offense of possession of cocaine with intent to sell on Count I, guilty as charged of possession of marijuana with intent to sell and giving false information to a police officer and not guilty of possession of drug paraphernalia. (T 118, R 35) He was sentenced to 46 months incarceration on Counts I and II and to time served on Count III; all sentences were ordered to be served concurrently. (T 121, R 39-49) A timely notice of appeal was filed. (R 50)

On appeal, the Fourth District reversed defendant's conviction for possession of marijuana with intent to sell because the state failed to prove that defendant possessed the marijuana found inside the jointly occupied vehicle. (See attached appendix.) The defendant also raised a second issue on appeal that the court over defense counsel's objection abused its discretion when it permitted Sergeant Morse to testify that it was common for street level narcotics dealers to hand out contact information to potential buyers, such as the initials and phone number on the slips of paper found in the vehicle. The district court agreed with the defendant that such testimony about generalized common practices of dug dealers is inadmissible as substantive proof of a particular defendant's guilt. However, in light of the fact that the trial was non jury, the court held:

We, find, however, that any error in admitting this testimony was *harmless* in this case, which was tried without a jury. When a trial judge, sitting as the trier of fact, erroneously admits evidence, the trial judge is presumed to have disregarded that evidence. *C.W. v. State*, 793 So. 2d 74 (Fla. 4<sup>th</sup> DCA 2001). Although this presumption is rebuttable, nothing in the record suggests that the trial judge relied upon this inadmissible evidence.

Accordingly, defendant's conviction for possession of cocaine with intent to

sell was affirmed.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

This Honorable Court has authority pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal on the same issue of law. The holding of the district court in this case directly and expressly conflicts with the holding of the Third District in <u>J.D. v. State</u>, 553 So. 2d 1317, 1319 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1989) that when a judge in a non jury trial in overruling the objection of defense counsel erroneously admits otherwise inadmissible evidence, it follows that the trial judge, sitting as the trier-of-fact, considers the evidence along with other evidence presented during trial in reaching the judgment rendered in the case.

#### **ARGUMENT**

# THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN <u>PETION V. STATE</u> EXPRESSLY AND DIRECTLY CONFLICTS WITH THE DECISION OF ANOTHER DISTRICT COURT ON THE SAME QUESTION OF LAW.

This Honorable Court has authority pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution to review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with a decision of another District Court on the same question of law. The holding of the district court in the present case directly and expressly conflicts on the same question of law with the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in J.D. v. State, 553 So. 2d 1317, 1319 (Fla. 3<sup>rd</sup> DCA 1989).

In <u>J.D. v. State</u>, <u>Id</u>., the Third District was confronted with the same issue of legally inadmissible evidence being admitted into evidence over the objection of defense counsel in a non jury trial. In that case, over objection of defense counsel (and motion for mistrial which was denied), testimony constituting a comment on appellant's post arrest silence was admitted into evidence. In reversing J.D.'s adjudication of delinquency, the court held:

We understand the State's position to be that, inasmuch as the trial which we review here was a non-jury trial, the trial judge certainly knew to disregard the comment and, accordingly, we can rest assured that he has done so. The standard which the State urges would, then, be nothing more than one which requires this court's *subjective* interpretation of what the trial judge did or did not consider, inasmuch as the record presented for review is silent on this point. We respectfully decline the State's invitation, and prefer, as indicated above, instead to hold to an *objective* interpretation of the evidence presented in the record on review. When the record is examined in this light, two facts are clear: first, the quoted comment was, in fact, made; and, second, this court cannot find beyond a reasonable doubt *from the record* as *DiGuilio* requires, that the error complained of did not contribute to the adjudication of delinquency. Accordingly, the adjudication must be reversed and the matter remanded for a new trial. 553 So. 2d at 1319.

In contrast, the Fourth District in holding in the present case that the trial judge, when sitting as the trier of the fact, is presumed to have disregarded erroneously admitted evidence, has adopted the *subjective* interpretation of the evidence which was rejected by the Third District in the <u>J.D.</u> case. Moreover, as a matter of common sense and logic, if a trial judge, sitting as the trier of the fact, erroneously admits evidence over the objection of counsel, the presumption would be that the judge considered or relied upon such evidence in reaching his or her decision. The position of the Third District that admission of erroneous evidence in a non jury trial should be *objectively* reviewed under the *DiGuilio* standard comports with fairness and as well as common sense.

Thus, the present case in adopting a *subjective* standard of review directly and expressly conflict with the decision Third District in <u>J.D. v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>, which adopts an *objective* standard of review under those same circumstances.

## **CONCLUSION**

Based upon the foregoing arguments and authorities cited herein above, Petitioner-Appellant, GERALD PETION, respectfully requests this Honorable Court to accept jurisdiction and to review this cause on the merits.