#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-664

#### **GERALD PETION**,

Petitioner,

- versus -

### STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

## RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON JURISDICTION

BILL McCOLLUM Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO Assistant Attorney General Chief, West Palm Beach Bureau Florida Bar No. 0656879

HEIDI L. BETTENDORF

Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0001805 1515 North Flagler Drive, Ninth Floor West Palm Beach, FL 33401

Tel: (561) 837-5000 Fax: (561) 837-5099 Counsel for Respondent

# **

## **Preliminary Statement**

Petitioner was the Defendant and Respondent was the Prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, in and for Broward County, Florida. Petitioner was Appellant and Respondent was Appellee in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District. In this brief, the parties shall be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court except that Respondent may also be referred to as the State.

#### **Statement Of The Case And Facts**

(limited to the issue of jurisdiction)

Noting that in determining jurisdiction, this Court is limited to the facts apparent on the face of the opinion, <u>Hardee v. State</u>, 534 So. 2d 706, 708 n.1 (Fla. 1988), Respondent will present the facts as they appear in the opinion below:

"At the defendant's non-jury trial, Deputy Dennis Conway testified that a local resident told him that he was walking down the street when he was flagged down by a man driving a white Toyota Camry with dark window tint. The driver asked him if he was straight or looking to party. He handed him a piece of paper with the initials "G.P." and a phone number to call if he should decide to party. The resident showed the deputy the piece of paper.

"A few days later, Deputy Conway spotted a white Camry with dark tinted windows and followed the vehicle. The driver of the vehicle made a left turn without signaling and then accelerated above the speed limit. After making several turns, the driver pulled into a driveway. He opened the driver's side door. Observing what appeared to be a window tint violation, the deputy pulled beside the Camry on the driver's side. He approached the driver and requested his driver's license, registration, and proof of insurance.

"The defendant handed the deputy a driver's license. However, the

photograph on the license was not the defendant's, and the defendant was unable to recite the date of birth and address listed on the license. At that point the deputy asked the defendant to exit the vehicle and placed him under arrest for giving false identification to a law enforcement officer. He searched the defendant and found crack cocaine and powder cocaine in his pants pockets.

"While the defendant was being searched outside the car, three other occupants of the vehicle remained inside. They were ordered to either place their hands on the headrest in front of them or on the dashboard. After the defendant was searched, the passengers were ordered to exit the vehicle and produce identification. A search of the vehicle revealed twelve bags of marijuana underneath a jacket located on the driver's seat. In addition, clear plastic bags were discovered in the front console. The officer testified as follows:

- Q. Now . . . when you have him out of the car and he is back like this standing at the back of the car while you are searching him, where are the other three occupants of the car?
- A. They are still inside the vehicle, sir.
- Q. So they are still inside the vehicle?
- A. Yes, sir.
- Q. And you're concentrating on, obviously, Mr. Petion, is that correct?

- A. That's correct, sir.
- Q. And you're depending on whatever officer is there to monitor the other three guys?

#### A. Yes, sir.

"The only other officer at the scene, Sergeant Morse, testified that while the defendant was being searched, he was also at the back of the car and concentrating on the search of the defendant. He did not testify that anyone was monitoring the actions of the other occupants of the vehicle and checking to see if they were complying with directions to keep their hands on the headrest or dashboard in front of them. The vehicle was not registered to the defendant or any of the other occupants of the vehicle.

"Sergeant Morse testified that he observed several slips of paper with the initials 'G.P.' and a telephone number on them inside a cup in the center console of the vehicle. Over defense objection, Sergeant Morse was allowed to testify that it was common for street level narcotics dealers to hand out contact references similar to those on the slips of paper to potential buyers. Deputy Conway was recalled to corroborate Morse's testimony about finding the slips of paper in the cup. He testified that there were between thirty and fifty slips in the cup and that he had seen one of these slips before.

"The defendant took the stand and testified that he was not driving the Camry and that another person named 'Ricardo' was driving. The defendant testified that he was in the back seat. The officers stopped the car and made all four men get out of the car and put each of them in handcuffs. The officers asked for their names, but the defendant refused to give his name, explaining that he had not done anything. The officer said, 'Oh, you want to be a smart ass,' and then searched the defendant. According to the defendant, the officer found three 'reefer bags.' The defendant admitted that he had three baggies of marijuana in his pants pocket. The defendant testified that when the officers searched the car, they found a bag full of cocaine rocks and a bag full of cocaine powder. The officers asked who owned these drugs. No one confessed. The defendant again refused to give his name, so the officers said they were going to charge him with everything. The defendant said he did not know about the slips of paper with his initials." Petion v. State, 34 Fla. L. Weekly D499 (Fla. 4th DCA March 4, 2009).

Petitioner appealed his conviction and sentence to the Fourth District Court of Appeal, arguing, <u>inter alia</u>, that the trial court erred in when it permitted Sergeant Morse to testify that it was common for street level narcotics dealers to hand out contact information to potential buyers, such as the initials and phone number on the slips of paper found in the vehicle. <u>Id.</u>

By opinion dated March 4, 2009, the Fourth District agreed that that such testimony about generalized common practices among drug dealers was inadmissible, but found that any error in its admission was harmless. <u>Id.</u> The Court stated that the trial court, when sitting as the trier-of-fact, is presumed to have disregarded erroneously admitted evidence. The Court further stated such presumption is rebuttable, and cited to its prior opinion in <u>C.W. v. State</u>, 793 So. 2d 74 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), wherein it stated that such a presumption is overcome where the record affirmatively reflects that the trial judge relied on the inadmissible evidence. The Court concluded that nothing in the record suggested that the trial court relied on the inadmissible evidence.

Petitioner now seeks review of the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal based on conflict jurisdiction.

# **Summary Of The Argument**

This Court does not have jurisdiction to review the instant case. The decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in the instant case does not expressly and directly conflict with the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in J.D. v. State, 553 So. 2d 1317 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989). Therefore, this Court should decline to review the decision in the instant case.

#### **Argument**

THE DECISION OF THE FOURTH DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN THE INSTANT CASE DOES NOT CONFLICT WITH THE DECISION OF THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL IN <u>J.D. v. STATE</u>, 553 So. 2d 1317 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

Petitioner alleges that the decision of the Fourth District Court of Appeal in Petion v. State, 34 Fla. L. Weekly D499 (Fla. 4th DCA March 4, 2009), expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal in J.D. v. State, 553 So. 2d 1317 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989).

Article V, § 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution restricts this Court's review of a district court of appeal's decision only if it expressly conflicts with a decision of this Court or of another district court of appeal. It is not enough to show that the district court's decision is effectively in conflict with other appellate decisions. This Court's jurisdiction to review the Fourth District's decision in this case may only be invoked by either the announcement of a rule of law which conflicts with a law previously announced by this Court or another district court of appeal or by the application of a rule of law to produce a different result in a case which involves substantially the same facts as a prior case. Mancini v. State, 312 So. 2d 732, 733 (Fla. 1975).

The term "expressly" requires some written representation or expression of

the legal grounds supporting the decision under review. See Jenkins v. State, 385 So. 2d 1356 (Fla. 1980). A decision of a district court of appeal is no longer reviewable on the ground that an examination of the record would show that it is in conflict with another appellate decision; it is reviewable if the conflict can be demonstrated from the district court of appeal's opinion itself. The district court of appeal must at least address the legal principles which were applied as a basis for the decision. See Ford Motor Co. v. Kikis, 401 So. 2d 1341, 1342 (Fla. 1981).

When determining whether conflict jurisdiction exists, this Court is limited to the facts which appear on the face of the opinion. Hardee v. State, 534 So. 2d at 708, n.1; White Constr. Co. v. Dupont, 455 So. 2d 1026 (Fla. 1984). In the past, this Court has held that it would not exercise its discretion where the opinion below established no point of law contrary to the decision of this Court or of another district court of appeal. The Florida Star v. B.J.F., 530 So. 2d 286, 289 (Fla. 1988). "'Conflict between decisions must be express and direct, i.e., it must appear within the four corners of the majority decision.' In other words, inherent or so called 'implied' conflict may no longer serve as a basis for this Court's jurisdiction." State, Department of Health v. National Adoption Counseling Service, Inc., 498 So. 2d 888, 889 (Fla. 1986) (quoting Reaves v. State, 485 So. 2d 829, 830 (Fla. 1986)). See also School Board of Pinellas County v. District Court

of Appeal, 467 So. 2d 985, 986 (Fla. 1985).

In the case at bar, Petitioner claims that the decision of the Fourth District conflicts with the decision of the Third District in J.D. v. State, 553 So. 2d 1317 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989). In the case at bar, the Fourth District stated that the trial court, when sitting as the trier-of-fact, is presumed to have disregarded erroneously admitted evidence. The Fourth District further stated such presumption is rebuttable, and cited to its prior opinion in C.W. v. State, 793 So. 2d 74 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001), wherein it stated that such a presumption is overcome where the record affirmatively reflects that the trial judge relied on the inadmissible evidence. In the present case, the Fourth District concluded that nothing in the record suggested that the trial court relied on the inadmissible evidence.

In <u>J.D.</u>, the Third District applied this Court's ruling in <u>State v. DiGuilio</u>, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986), to find that it could not necessarily be concluded beyond a reasonable doubt that the trial court's erroneous admission of the evidence did not contribute to the verdict. The Third District based this conclusion upon an examination of the entire record, as instructed by <u>DiGuilio</u>.

Accordingly, since the holdings in both cases require an examination off the entire record to determine whether the trial court's erroneous admission of the evidence contributed to the verdict, there is no express and direct conflict between

the two decisions and this Court should decline review.

### **Conclusion**

WHEREFORE, based on the foregoing argument and authorities, Respondent respectfully submits that this Court should decline to grant review in the above-styled cause.